RECEIVED

08-12-2013

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2011AP001572

JULAINE K. APPLING, JO EGELHOFF, JAREN E. HILLER, RICHARD KESSENICH AND EDMUND L. WEBSTER,

Plaintiffs-Appellants-Petitioners,

v.

SCOTT WALKER, KITTY RHOADES AND OSKAR ANDERSON,

Defendants-Respondents,

FAIR WISCONSIN, INC., GLENN CARLSON, MICHAEL CHILDERS, CRYSTAL HYSLOP, JANICE CZYSCON, KATHY FLORES, ANNKENDZIERSKI, DAVID KOPITZKE, PAUL KLAWITER, CHAD WEGE AND ANDREW WEGE,

Intervening Defendants-Respondents.

PETITIONERS' BRIEF

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Is the legal status of domestic partnership created by Wisconsin Statutes Chapter 770 "substantially similar" to the legal status of marriage and thus unconstitutional under Article XIII, Section 13 of the Wisconsin Constitution?

Both the Circuit Court and the Court of Appeals concluded that the legal status of domestic partnership is not substantially similar to the legal status of marriage.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Petitioners respectfully request oral argument in this case, which presents constitutional issues of paramount importance to the state.

Furthermore, because the resolution of this issue will no doubt have a statewide impact, Petitioners also respectfully suggest that publication of the Court's opinion is warranted because the decision will settle the law in this area and give guidance to the Legislature and lower courts.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Introduction and Nature of the Case

Wisconsin law affirms that "[m]arriage is the institution that is the foundation of the family and of society," whose "stability is basic to

morality and civilization, and of vital interest to society and the state." Wis. Stat. § 765.001; *see also State v. Duket*, 90 Wis. 272, 63 N.W. 83, 84 (1895) ("[Marriage] is a status or legal condition established by law, involving, not only the well-being of the parties, but also the highest interests of society and the state, and having more to do with the morals and civilization of a people than any other institution.").

When courts in other states began questioning or overturning the marriage laws of their respective states, the people of Wisconsin moved to constitutionally preserve the status quo by passing the Marriage Amendment as Article XIII, Section 13 of the Wisconsin Constitution. Its purpose, as this Court has recognized, "was to preserve the legal status of marriage in Wisconsin as between only one man and one woman," and to ensure that "no legislature, court, or any other government entity [could] get around the [provision defining marriage] by creating or recognizing 'a legal status identical or substantially similar to that of marriage."

**McConkey v. Van Hollen*, 2010 WI 57, ¶¶ 54-55, 326 Wis. 2d 1, 29-30, 783 N.W.2d 855, 869.

Despite this clear directive from the people, immediately following a shift in political power from one party to the other in both the Legislature

and Governor's office, the new elected officials created the legal status of domestic partnership (Wisconsin Statutes Chapter 770). The Legislature thereby attempted to do exactly what the people had voted to prevent—to "get around" the Amendment's definition of marriage and "render[] illusory" the people's attempt to preserve marriage as a unique legal status. *Id.* at ¶¶ 54-55.

Chapter 770 is unconstitutional because the new legal status of domestic partnership mirrors the constituent elements of the legal status of marriage. The constituent elements of marriage are the elements that "serv[e] to compose or make up" marriage as a legal status. *See* Random House Webster's Unabridged Dictionary 436 (2d ed. 1999) (defining "constituent"). They are *the component parts of the marital relationship* to which the law grants a status "in [and] with regard to the rest of the community." *See Duket*, 63 N.W. at 85. They do not include the legal incidents consequent to that status.

Marriage, as a legal status, thus is a legally recognized, consensual, exclusive domestic union between two persons, identified by their sex, who are of age and are not closely related by blood. *See* Wis. Stat. §§ 765.01, 765.02(1), 765.03(1). Domestic partnership, as a legal status, likewise is a

legally recognized, consensual, exclusive domestic union between two persons, identified by their sex, who are of age and are not closely related by blood. *See* Wis. Stat. §§ 770.01, 770.05(1)-(5). The legal status of domestic partnership, as created by the Legislature, is thus substantially similar to the legal status of marriage and, as a result, is unconstitutional.

The Legislature deliberately designed domestic partnerships to mimic marriage. Indeed, many of the constituent elements of domestic partnerships—most notably, the same-sex and no-close-blood-relation elements—make little sense unless the Legislature intentionally set out to approximate marriage. For example, there is no plausible reason, other than an intent to copy marriage, why the Legislature should withhold the benefits afforded by domestic partnerships from two brothers who live together and share household expenses, or a young woman who lives with and helps care for her widowed grandfather.

Further confirming the Legislature's intent to copy marriage's essential structure, marriage and domestic partnerships now stand together in Wisconsin on one side of a great chasm that separates them from all other legal statuses known or recognized at law. No other legal status in Wisconsin looks or acts like a marriage or a domestic partnership.

Following Chapter 770's enactment, the people of Wisconsin have shown that they know a marriage copycat when they see one. Each spring the John Muir Middle School in Wausau requires its students to play the "Game of Life," where students form a family unit and learn to manage a budget. (R. 130A:165.) Until the Legislature passed Chapter 770, one boy and one girl formed a family unit; after Chapter 770's passage, the school informed its students that now two girls, or two boys, may also form "family units." (*Id.*) The school bases "the [g]ame on what is legal in Wisconsin," (*id.*); and understandably, what is currently "legal" to the layperson after the passage of Chapter 770 is a legal status substantially similar to marriage. In short, domestic partnerships look so much like marriages that educators now incorporate into their instructional curricula the obvious legal equivalence between the two.

Both the Circuit Court and the Court of Appeals committed fundamental error by confusing the *legal status* of marriage with the *incidents* conditioned upon that status. Comparing the incidents that result from marriage with the incidents that result from domestic partnerships is unnecessary because marriage, as a legal status, does not obtain its identity from the collection of rights and liabilities that attaches to it. This Court

and countless others have already recognized the firmly rooted distinction between marriage's legal status and its consequent benefits and obligations. *See, e.g., Button v. Button,* 131 Wis. 2d 84, 94, 388 N.W.2d 546, 550 (Wis. 1986). It is also telling that Chapter 765 (which establishes the status of marriage) and Chapter 770 (which establishes the status of domestic partnership) are devoid of language pertaining to rights, duties, benefits, or liabilities. Were the legal status of marriage defined by the incidents that flow therefrom, that status would change every time the Legislature amends a statute affecting a marital incident. But the legal status of marriage is not a fluctuant construct that changes upon every legislative update to its consequent incidents.

In short, Chapter 770 uses the blueprint for marriage to design a substantially similar legal status called domestic partnership. This Court should therefore conclude that Chapter 770 cannot stand.

II. Statement of the Facts

On November 7, 2006, the people of Wisconsin—by a 19-point margin—amended their state constitution to affirm marriage as the union of one man and one woman, and to protect against the Legislature or state courts undermining that legal status by creating an "identical or

substantially similar" legal status. Enshrined in the Constitution as Article XIII, Section 13, the Marriage Amendment states:

Only a marriage between one man and one woman shall be valid or recognized as a marriage in this state. A legal status identical or substantially similar to that of marriage for unmarried individuals shall not be valid or recognized in this state.

The ballot question that preceded the Marriage Amendment was approved by two successive sessions of the Legislature. (R. 130B:93, 130B:99, 130B:145.) The relationship between the definitional provision ("marriage between one man and one woman") and the legal status provision (no legal status "identical to or substantially similar to" marriage) was a topic of extended discussion during these legislative sessions. (R. 66:48-49, 130B:85, 130B:107-08, 130B:128-29, 130B:139, 130B:141-43.)

One of the authors of the Marriage Amendment stated its purpose and effect clearly: "Marriage is more than just a basketful of government benefits—it is the cornerstone of our society. . . . Creating a technical 'marriage,' but just using a different name, to massage public opinion, doesn't cut it." (R. 66:42.) Legislators were made well aware that "regardless of what creative term is used—civil union, civil compact, state sanctioned covenant, whatever," no legal status substantially similar to

marriage would be valid in Wisconsin. (R. 66:41.) Legislative opponents of the Amendment, with full knowledge of its purposes, repeatedly attempted in both the Senate and the Assembly to delete its legal status provision, but their efforts failed. (R. 66:49, 130B:142.)

Just three years after the people enacted the Marriage Amendment, when political opponents of the Amendment gained control of the Legislature and the Governor's office, Chapter 770 was enacted, and the legal status of domestic partnership was created.

III. Procedural Status of the Case

After Chapter 770's enactment, Petitioners, as concerned Wisconsin taxpayers, filed suit in Dane County Circuit Court, seeking to have Chapter 770 declared unconstitutional, because the legal status of domestic partnership is substantially similar to the legal status of marriage. (R 2:1-11.)¹

The Attorney General, after thoroughly reviewing Chapter 770, concluded that it violated the Marriage Amendment and declined to defend it in court. (R. 106:9-11.) The Government Defendants then appointed

8

¹ Before commencing this suit in the Circuit Court, Petitioners filed a petition to take jurisdiction of original action with this Court, seeking to raise the issues presented by this case. This Court declined to take original jurisdiction. *See* Order at 1, *Appling v. Doyle*, No. 2009AP1860-OA (Wis. Nov. 3, 2009).

special counsel, who filed a brief in support of their motion for summary judgment on December 22, 2010. (R. 65:1-68.) Petitioners filed a crossmotion for, and brief in support of, summary judgment on March 8, 2011, as did the Intervening Defendants FAIR Wisconsin, Inc., et al. (R. 83:1-2, 84:1-46, 87:1-2, 88:1-11.)

Following a change in gubernatorial administrations, the Government Defendants filed a motion on May 13, 2011, to withdraw from the action because the new administration, after conducting its own legal review of Chapter 770, concluded (like the Attorney General had) that the legislation was unconstitutional. (R. 105:1-2.) The Circuit Court ordered the Government Defendants to remain in the case, although they no longer defended against Plaintiffs' claims, yet the Court permitted the substance of the Government Defendants' brief to be incorporated into the Intervening Defendants' filing. (R. 133:1-14.) The Circuit Court thus considered the Government Defendants' originally proffered defense of Chapter 770.

On June 20, 2011, the Circuit Court denied Petitioners' motion for summary judgment and granted the Intervening Defendants' motion, concluding that Chapter 770 is constitutional because "the sum total of domestic partners' legal rights, duties, and liabilities is not identical or so

essentially alike that it is virtually identical to the sum total of spouses' legal rights, duties, and liabilities." (R. 131:31.) On July 1, 2011, Petitioners appealed the judgment of the Circuit Court. (R. 132:1.) After briefing, the Court of Appeals essentially concurred with the decision of the Circuit Court, holding that Chapter 770 was not unconstitutional because "domestic partnerships carry with them substantially fewer rights and obligations than those enjoyed by and imposed on married couples." *Appling v. Doyle*, 2013 WI App 3, ¶ 4, 345 Wis. 2d 762, 766, 826 N.W.2d 666, 667.

Petitioners filed their Petition for Review with this Court on January 22, 2013, and this Court granted that Petition on June 12, 2013.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Summary judgment is appropriate if there are no genuine issues of material fact, and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Wis. Stat. § 802.08(2). In this case, there are no material facts in dispute, which leaves only questions of law for this Court to resolve.

Questions of law are reviewed *de novo* by this Court. *1325 N. Van Buren, LLC v. T-3 Grp., Ltd.*, 2006 WI 94, ¶ 22, 293 Wis. 2d 410, 426, 716 N.W.2d 822, 830. Constitutional provisions are likewise interpreted *de*

novo by this Court. Vincent v. Voight, 2000 WI 93, ¶ 28, 236 Wis. 2d 588, 612, 614 N.W.2d 388, 402. While a constitutional challenge to a statute must overcome a presumption of constitutionality, *State v. Thiel*, 188 Wis. 2d 695, 706, 524 N.W.2d 641, 645 (Wis. 1994), "a constitutional amendment is of the highest dignity and prevails over legislative acts . . . to the contrary," *Kayden Indus., Inc. v. Murphy*, 34 Wis. 2d 718, 733, 150 N.W.2d 447, 454 (1967).

ARGUMENT

In construing the Marriage Amendment, this Court must "give effect to the intent of the framers and of the people who adopted it." *Dairyland Greyhound Park, Inc. v. Doyle*, 2006 WI 107, ¶ 19, 295 Wis. 2d 1, 28, 719 N.W.2d 408, 421. Wisconsin courts generally look to three primary sources when interpreting a constitutional provision—"the plain meaning, the constitutional debates and practices of the time, and the earliest interpretations of the provision by the legislature, as manifested through the first legislative action following adoption." *Id*.

Courts give priority to the plain meaning of the constitutional text, and sometimes proceed no further with their analysis. *See McConkey*, 2010 WI 57, ¶ 44 ("A plain reading of the text of the amendment will usually

reveal a general, unified purpose."); Dairyland, 2006 WI 107, ¶ 117 (Prosser, J., concurring in part, dissenting in part) ("Courts should give priority to the plain meaning of the words of a constitutional provision in the context used") (citations omitted); Jacobs v. Major, 139 Wis. 2d 492, 503-04, 407 N.W.2d 832, 836-37 (Wis. 1987) (finding no ambiguity in the constitutional provision at issue and deciding to "go no further than holding that [the constitutional provision] has plain, unambiguous meaning"); see also State ex rel. Kuehne v. Burdette, 2009 WI App 119, ¶¶ 9-19, 320 Wis. 2d 784, 790-94, 772 N.W.2d 225, 228-30 (affirming that courts interpreting constitutional provisions "should give priority to the plain meaning of the words of the provision in the context used," and concluding, without considering other interpretive sources, that the statute contravened the plain meaning of the constitution) (alterations, citations, and quotation marks omitted).

In this case, the first source—the plain meaning of the Marriage

Amendment—conclusively establishes that Chapter 770 is constitutionally
infirm, and in light of the overwhelming weight of this source, this Court
need not analyze the others. If, however, this Court considers the second
source, the legislative and ratification debates, that factor will serve only to

reinforce Chapter 770's unconstitutionality. And Petitioners contend that the third source, which analyzes the earliest legislative interpretation of the Marriage Amendment, is inapt here, because the challenged statute and the first legislative action are one in the same and part of a political effort to undermine, not construe or apply, the Marriage Amendment.

I. The Plain Meaning of the Marriage Amendment Establishes That Chapter 770 is Unconstitutional.

The Marriage Amendment provides that a "legal status identical or substantially similar to that of marriage for unmarried individuals shall not be valid or recognized in" Wisconsin. Wis. Const. art. XIII, § 13. Chapter 770 unquestionably validates and recognizes domestic partnership as a legal status. The only issue for this Court to decide, then, is whether the legal status of domestic partnership is substantially similar to the legal status of marriage.

A. The Legal Status of Domestic Partnership is Substantially Similar to the Legal Status of Marriage.

"Legal" means "of or pertaining to law." Random House, *supra*, at 1098. "Status," as this Court has recognized, "means in its common and approved usage 'state or condition." *Cnty. of Dane v. Norman*, 174 Wis. 2d 683, 688, 497 N.W.2d 714, 715-16 (Wis. 1993) (quoting Black's Law

Dictionary (6th ed. 1990)). Discussing these terms in the context of marriage, this Court long ago stated:

[Marriage] creates by law a relation between the parties, and what is called a 'status' of each. The status of an individual, used as a legal term, means the legal position of the individual in or with regard to the rest of the community. That relation between the parties, and that status of each of them with regard to the community which are constituted upon marriage, are . . . imposed [and] defined . . . by law.

Duket, 63 N.W. at 85.

This Court thus must look to state statutes to ascertain the "legal status" of marriage in Wisconsin. When reviewing those statutes, it is necessary to identify the constituent elements that make the legally recognized marital relationship what it is—the component parts of the marital relationship to which the law grants a legal status "in [and] with regard to the rest of the community." See id.

The legal status of marriage in this state recognizes (1) a domestic relationship between two persons, Wis. Stat. § 765.01; (2) of specified sexes (one man and one woman), *id.*; (3) who are competent to consent, Wis. Stat. § 765.02(1); (4) who generally are over a specified age (18), *id.*; (5) who are not closely related, Wis. Stat. § 765.03(1); and (6) who are not married to someone else, *id.* These are the "essential and material elements

on which the marriage relation rests," *Varney v. Varney*, 52 Wis. 120, 8 N.W. 739, 741 (1881), constituent elements that establish by law the legal status of marriage in Wisconsin.

The legal status of domestic partnership similarly is (1) a domestic relationship between two persons, Wis. Stat. § 770.01(2); (2) of specified sexes (one man and one man, or one woman and one woman), Wis. Stat. § 770.05(5); (3) who are competent to consent, Wis. Stat. § 770.05(1); (4) who are over a specified age (18), *id.*; (5) who are not closely related, Wis. Stat. § 770.05(4); and (6) who are not married to, or in a domestic partnership with, someone else, Wis. Stat. § 770.05(2).

"Similar" means "having a likeness or resemblance, esp[ecially] in a general way." Random House, *supra*, at 1782; *see also State v. Kay Distrib. Co.*, 110 Wis. 2d 29, 36-37, 327 N.W.2d 188, 193 (Wis. Ct. App. 1982) (upholding trial court decision defining "similar" to mean "comparable"). "Substantially" means "basic," "fundamental," or "pertaining to the essence." Random House, *supra*, at 1897. "Substantially similar," then, means exhibiting a fundamental resemblance or being closely comparable, which might occur, as it does here, as a result of copying material components.

A comparison of the legal status of domestic partnership to the legal status of marriage reveals a purposeful mimicry. A domestic partnership is defined just like marriage in Wisconsin, in that it is a legally recognized, consensual, exclusive domestic union between two persons, identified by their sex, who are of age and are not closely related by blood to each other. The Legislature thus created a legal status that is substantially similar to marriage.

Many of the constituent elements of domestic partnerships make little sense absent an intent to mimic marriage. It is difficult to ascertain why the Legislature would have insisted that domestic partnerships include, for example, the sex-specification and no-close-blood-relationship elements, unless its purpose was to create a marriage-like status. Nothing but an intent to create a marriage-mirroring same-sex legal status could explain why only two persons of the same sex would qualify for domestic partnership status, while two persons of the opposite sex should not. And nothing but an intent to mimic marriage explains why two unrelated persons are entitled to domestic partnership status, while closely related blood relatives are not. Moreover, the remaining marriage-mirroring elements of domestic partnerships—the exclusivity, age, consent, and two-

person components—even if some might be innocently explained in isolation, demonstrate when considered collectively that the Legislature created a legal status that is substantially similar to marriage.

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