RECEIVED

09-11-2013

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

Case No. 2011AP1572

JULAINE K. APPLING, JO EGELHOFF, JAREN E. HILLER, RICHARD KESSENICH and EDMUND L. WEBSTER,

Plaintiffs-Appellants, Petitioners,

v.

SCOTT WALKER, KITTY RHOADES and OSKAR ANDERSON,

Defendants-Respondents,

FAIR WISCONSIN, INC., GLENN CARLSON, MICHAEL CHILDERS, CRYSTAL HYSLOP, JANICE CZYSCON, KATHY FLORES, ANN KENDZIERSKI, DAVID KOPITZKE, PAUL KLAWITER, CHAD WEGE and ANDREW WEGE,

Intervening Defendants-Respondents.

RESPONSE BRIEF OF INTERVENING DEFENDANTS-RESPONDENTS

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

There are three primary sources that must be examined to determine the meaning of an amendment to the Wisconsin Constitution: (1) the plain meaning of the amendment; (2) the history surrounding the legislative debates and voter ratification campaign; and (3) the earliest interpretation of the amendment by the legislature. The court of appeals and circuit court correctly concluded that a constitutional analysis based on these sources demonstrates that a Wisconsin domestic partnership is not "substantially similar" to marriage.

ARGUMENT

This Court has outlined a three-part analysis for interpreting the meaning of a constitutional amendment:

"The constitution means what its framers and the people approving of it have intended it to mean, and that intent is to be determined in the light of the circumstances in which they were placed at the time[.]" State ex rel. Bare v. Schinz, 194 Wis. 397, 404, 216 N.W. 509 (1927) (citation omitted). We therefore examine three primary sources in determining the meaning of a constitutional provision: the plain meaning, the constitutional debates and practices of the time, and the earliest interpretations

of the provision by the legislature, as manifested through the first legislative action following adoption.

Dairyland Greyhound Park v. Doyle, 2006 WI 107, ¶ 19, 295 Wis. 2d 1, 719 N.W.2d 408 (citations omitted); see also State ex rel. Ekern v. Zimmerman, 187 Wis. 180, 184, 204 N.W. 803 (1925); Thompson v. Craney, 199 Wis. 2d 674, 680, 546 N.W.2d 123 (1996). Thus, to show Chapter 770 is unconstitutional beyond a reasonable doubt, the Appling Parties must prove that these sources demonstrate "that the voters who ratified the marriage amendment intended that it would ban the particular type of same-sex partnerships created by the domestic partnership law." Appling v. Doyle, 2013 WI App 3, ¶ 15, 345 Wis. 2d 762, 826 N.W.2d 666.

The Appling Parties contend that this Court should look only to the plain meaning of the constitutional amendment. But, an unbroken line of authorities insist that the interpretation of constitutional amendments in Wisconsin requires consideration of all three parts of the *Dairyland* analysis. *See e.g.*, *State v. Williams*, 2012 WI 59, ¶ 15, 341 Wis. 2d 191, 814 N.W.2d 460 ("When

interpreting constitutional ... amendments, we look to intrinsic as well as extrinsic sources."); *Schilling v. State Crime Victims Rights Bd.*, 2005 WI 17, ¶ 17, 278 Wis. 2d 216, 692 N.W.2d 623; *Buse v. Smith*, 74 Wis. 2d 550, 568, 247 N.W.2d 141 (1976). In any case, the Appling Parties failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that domestic partnerships are unconstitutional under the plain meaning of the Marriage Amendment.

The following sections of this brief analyze the Appling Parties' constitutional challenge using the three-part *Dairyland* analysis. Individually, each part of the analysis shows that Chapter 770 is constitutional. Viewed together, the analysis of all three sources leads to the irrefutable conclusion that the Appling Parties failed to meet their high burden of proof and that the decisions of the circuit court and court of appeals must be affirmed.

I. THE PLAIN MEANING OF THE MARRIAGE AMENDMENT DEMONSTRATES THAT CHAPTER 770 DOES NOT VIOLATE THE WISCONSIN CONSTITUTION.

The first part of the constitutional analysis requires an examination of the plain meaning of the constitutional provision at issue. The Appling Parties argue that Chapter 770 violates the second sentence of the Marriage Amendment, which states: "A legal status identical or substantially similar to that of marriage for unmarried individuals shall not be valid or recognized in this state." Article XIII, Sec. 13, Wis. Const. Thus, to determine whether Chapter 770 violates this prohibition, this Court must compare the legal status created by Chapter 770 with the legal status of a Wisconsin marriage to determine whether the two are substantially similar.

A. As used in the Marriage Amendment, the legal status of marriage encompasses all the legal aspects of marriage.

Before undertaking a comparison of the two legal statuses, it is necessary to determine the meaning of the phrase "legal status."

A "status" is "[a] person's legal condition, whether personal or proprietary; the sum total of a person's legal rights, duties, liabilities, and other legal relations." *Black's Law Dictionary* 1447 (8th ed., 2004). Stated more succinctly, a status is "[t]he standing of a person before the law." *Random House Dictionary of the English Language* 1862 (2nd ed., 1987). Each of these definitions of "status" reflects that the word has a legal meaning—i.e., a status is how a person is treated under the law.

The Marriage Amendment's use of the phrase "legal status" indicates that a comparison of the domestic partnerships created by Chapter 770 to a Wisconsin marriage must indeed start with a legal comparison—i.e., to assess whether a domestic partnership is "substantially similar" to marriage, the most relevant points of comparison include:

- The general legal nature of each status.
- The legal requirements regarding who can obtain each status.

- The legal procedures for entering into each status.
- The legal procedures for terminating each status.
- The specific legal rights, benefits, and responsibilities that attach to each status.

The legal aspects of each status are the relevant points of comparison because, as the circuit court noted, "the Marriage Amendment only prohibits a 'legal status' that is identical or substantially similar to marriage for unmarried individuals; the Marriage Amendment does not prohibit a non-legal (*i.e.* social) status that is identical or substantially similar to marriage for unmarried individuals." (R.131:10.)

B. The plain meaning of the phrase "substantially similar" indicates that the Marriage Amendment prohibits only the creation or recognition of legal statuses that are almost identical to marriage.

Before undertaking a comparison of the two legal statuses, it is also necessary to determine the meaning of the phrase "substantially similar." The circuit court correctly noted that the word "substantially" means "essentially." (R.131:10, *citing Black's*

Law Dictionary 1597 (rev. 4th ed. 1968).) The circuit court also was correct in defining "similar" as "alike though not identical." (R.131:10, citing The American Heritage College Dictionary 1270 (3rd ed. 1997).) Based on these definitions, the circuit court concluded that "substantially similar" means "essentially alike, though not identical." (R.131:10.)

The circuit court's conclusion about the meaning of "substantially similar" is consistent with a 2006 opinion issued by Attorney General Peggy A. Lautenschlager. (R.66:Ex. 2.)¹ The Attorney General emphasized that the meaning of the phrase "substantially similar to ... marriage" must be determined from the context in which it is used. Noting that, under rules of statutory

¹ The Attorney General's opinion has persuasive value as to the meaning and purpose of a legislative enactment. *See State v. Ludwig*, 31 Wis. 2d 690, 698, 143 N.W.2d 548 (1966).

construction, "[p]rovisions which have a purpose to restrict personal and property rights are construed strictly," she opined:

A specific intent to use "similar" with its strict meaning is evinced by the textual context of the term where it is preceded by the modifying adverb "substantially." According to recognized dictionaries ... "substantially" means to a considerable degree. Websters Third New International Dictionary 2280 (unabr. ed. 1986); The American Heritage Dictionary of the English Language 1791 (3rd ed. 1996).

This modifier pushes the meaning of "similar" away from mere general likeness and much closer to virtual identity on the range of resemblance. Things are not substantially similar unless they have a considerable degree of similarity.

Id. at 2.

Furthermore, the Attorney General's definition of the phrase "substantially similar" fits with recent usage by this Court comparing the Takings Clauses of the Wisconsin and United States Constitutions:

Article I, Section 13 of the Wisconsin Constitution provides in full that "[t]he property of no person shall be taken for public use without just compensation therefor."

The text of this provision of the Wisconsin Constitution is substantially similar to the Takings Clause of the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution, which provides that private property shall not "be taken for public use, without just compensation."

City of Milwaukee Post No. 2874 VFW v. Redevelopment Auth., 2009 WI 84, ¶¶ 34-35, 319 Wis. 2d 553, 768 N.W.2d 749 (emphasis added). This Court went on to interpret the Takings Clause of the Wisconsin Constitution as providing rights analogous to those existing in the Takings Clause of the United States Constitution. This Court thus used the phrase "substantially similar" to mean "almost identical."

Consistent with these analyses, the circuit court correctly concluded that "a status must be closer to identical to marriage, as opposed to merely alike marriage, before it will fall within the Marriage Amendment's prohibition." (R:131:10.) Thus, when comparing the legal statuses at issue here, the relevant inquiry is whether Chapter 770 creates a legal status that is close to being identical to marriage.

- C. A comparison of the legal aspects of each legal status at issue reveals that a Chapter 770 domestic partnership is not substantially similar to marriage.
 - 1. The two statuses have fundamentally different legal natures—marriage is an enforceable contract; a Wisconsin domestic partnership is not.

An examination of the fundamental legal nature of the statuses at issue reveals that they are very different legal creatures and therefore cannot be considered substantially similar.

Under Wisconsin law, marriage "is a civil contract, to which the consent of the parties capable in law of contracting is essential, and which creates the legal status of husband and wife." Wis. Stat. § 765.01. Section 765.001(2), which describes the intent underlying the Family Code, Chapters 765 to 768, further explains that,

[u]nder the laws of this state, marriage is a legal relationship between 2 equal persons, a husband and wife, who owe to each other mutual responsibility and support. Each spouse has an equal obligation in accordance with his or her ability to contribute money or services or both which are necessary for the adequate support and maintenance of his or her minor children and of the other spouse. No spouse may be presumed primarily liable for support expenses under this subsection.²

Indeed, the economic consideration underlying the marital contract is found in Wis. Stat. § 765.001, which states that, through marriage, each spouse binds himself or herself to a legal relationship of "mutual responsibility and support" in which each person has "an equal obligation ... to contribute money or services or both which are necessary for the adequate support and maintenance" of the other and any minor children of the union.

The depth and meaning of the requirements of "mutual responsibility and support" are expressed and enforced through numerous provisions in Wisconsin's statutes. For example, under Chapter 766—Marital Property, individuals who enter into a marriage do so with the understanding that they are forgoing their right to accumulate property individually and agree that all property

Wis. Stat. § 765.001(2) is consistent with dictionary definitions of marriage. See, e.g., Merriam Webster Online Dictionary (http://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/marriage) ("[t]he state of being united to a person of the opposite sex as husband or wife in a consensual and contractual relationship recognized by law.")

will be part of a "marital estate." Essentially, the provisions of Chapter 766 give each spouse an undivided one-half interest in any property that either spouse may acquire during the marriage and, as well, make each spouse responsible for debts incurred by the other for the benefit of the marital estate.

Furthermore, marriage is a unique contract in that, by enforcing the obligations of the parties to the contract through statute, the State becomes a party to that contract. *Fricke v. Fricke*, 257 Wis. 124, 126, 42 N.W.2d 500 (1950). That makes the marriage contract unique among contracts, as the United States Supreme Court has explained:

[M]arriage ... is something more than a mere contract.... Other contracts may be modified, restricted, or enlarged, or entirely released upon the consent of the parties. Not so with marriage. The relation once formed, the law steps in and holds the parties to various obligations and liabilities.

Maynard v. Hill, 125 U.S. 190, 210-11 (1888).

By contrast, *none* of this is true of a domestic partnership. Chapter 770 does not define domestic partnerships as civil contracts.

In fact, a domestic partnership is not a contractual relationship at all. A domestic partnership is not a relationship of "mutual responsibility and support." Neither partner has an obligation to "contribute money or services or both" to support the other. Nor is there any other element of consideration between domestic partners associated with registering under Chapter 770. Rather, registration of a domestic partnership triggers a set of rights accorded by the State to the individuals in that relationship. The State imposes no obligations between the partners themselves. As the circuit court correctly noted, "Chapter 770 is simply a legal construct created to provide benefits to same-sex couples."

Furthermore, as demonstrated above, marriage is a "super contract." That is, the State takes more interest in a marriage contract and plays a more active role in the definition and enforcement of its terms, as well as in defining the circumstances under which it may be terminated, than it does in other civil

contracts. The State plays no such role in Chapter 770 domestic partnerships.

It is not surprising that the Appling Parties fail to acknowledge the striking difference in the fundamental legal nature of the two statuses at issue because this difference alone is sufficient for this Court to conclude that the two statuses are not substantially similar. When this difference is considered along with the numerous other legal differences discussed in the following sections, the conclusion becomes inescapable.

2. The two statuses have different eligibility requirements.

The Appling Parties claim, incorrectly, that domestic partnerships are unconstitutional solely because they replicate certain eligibility requirements of marriage—what the Appling Parties now refer to as the "constituent elements" of marriage. Contrary to their assertions, a comparison of the criteria for entering a domestic partnership (*see* Wis. Stat. § 770.05) with the criteria for

getting married (*see* Wis. Stat. §§ 765.02 & 765.03) reveals significant differences:

- 1. Before individuals can become domestic partners they must share a common residence. There is no such requirement for a man and woman to be eligible to marry.
- 2. No minor may become a domestic partner, even with the consent of a parent or guardian, whereas minors between the ages of 16 and 18 years can marry with such consent.
- 3. No individuals who are nearer kin than second cousins may ever be domestic partners, whether their relationship is by blood or by adoption. First cousins by adoption may marry as may first cousins where the female is over 55 years old or if at least one party to the contract is sterile.
- 4. An individual who has been divorced less than six months may become a domestic partner but may not marry. Similarly, an individual who is a domestic partner may marry without taking any action to terminate the domestic partnership; the marriage automatically terminates the domestic partnership.

These differences demonstrate that the criteria for entrance into the legal status of domestic partnership and marriage are not substantially similar.

The Appling Parties contend that the legal status of marriage must be understood only by reference to what they refer to as the "constituent elements" of the status of marriage, a concept they have

up made up out of whole cloth. (Pet'rs' Br. 14-15.) They hand-pick six eligibility requirements for marrying and proclaim them to be "the constituent elements of the legal status of marriage." (*Id.* at 15.)³ Because domestic partnerships share all of these six so-called constituent elements, they argue Chapter 770 impermissibly "mimics" marriage. (*Id.* at 16.)

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